
Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Joint Advisory 
Committee

Thursday, 20th April, 2017 at 2.00 pm in Sports Pavilion, Bentham Moor Road, 
Burton-in-Lonsdale, Carnforth, LA6 3LJ 

Agenda

SCHEDULE

 11.00am Arrival.  Tea & coffee available at the Sports Pavilion (Location 
map attached) 

 11.30am Depart on minibus for project visits in local area

 1.15pm Return to Sports Pavilion for lunch

 2.00pm AONB Joint Advisory Committee meeting

 4.00pm Finish (approx)

1. Welcome, Introductions and Apologies  

2. Disclosure of Pecuniary  Interests  
Members are asked to consider any Pecuniary 
Interests they may have to disclose to the meeting in 
relation to matters under consideration on the Agenda.

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 November 2016  (Pages 3 - 8)
The Committee is asked to consider approving the 
minutes of the meeting held on 3 November 2016.

4. Matters Arising  

5. AONB Budget Update  (Pages 9 - 12)

6. AONB Partner Updates  

7. Delivering the AONB Management Plan  (Pages 13 - 64)



- 2 -

a) AONB Unit Activity Report

Including presentation on headline achievements 
over the last six months.

b) AONB Unit Business Plan 2017/18

8. Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership Update  

9. Urgent Business  
An item of Urgent Business may only be considered 
under this heading where, by reason of special 
circumstances to be recorded in the minutes, the 
Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion that the item 
should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency.  Wherever possible, the Chief Executive 
should be given advance warning of any Members' 
intention to raise a matter under this heading.

10. Provisional Dates of Next Committee Meetings  
Members are asked to consider the following 
provisional dates for future meetings of the Committee:

Thursday 19 October 2017 (Ribble Valley venue tbc)
Thursday 19 April 2018 (Lancaster venue tbc)
 

                                Samantha Gorton
Democratic Services

Lancashire County Council
County Hall
Preston



Sports Pavilion 
and car park

From Ingleton

From High BenthamFrom Low Bentham

From 
Lancaster

P
age 1

A
genda A

nnex



P
age 2



1

Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Joint Advisory Committee

Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday, 3rd November, 2016 at 2.00 pm in 
Bowland Visitor Centre, Beacon Fell Country Park PR3 2NL

Present:

Chair

County Councillor Albert Atkinson, Lancashire County Council

Committee Members

Councillor John Browne, Preston City Council
County Councillor Mrs Susie Charles, Lancashire County Council
Councillor Colin Price, Yorkshire Local Councils Association
Councillor James Starkie, Pendle Borough Council
Councillor Ian Thompson, Craven District Council
Councillor Val Wilson, Wyre Borough Council
Helen Dix, Environment Agency
Michael Helm, LALCDavid Kelly, Ramblers Association
Marilyn Pilkington, Friends of Bowland
Mr Andrew Taylor, Bowland Land Managers Forum
Barrie Tyrer, Bowland Experience Limited

Officers

Jayne Ashe,  Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Graduate Trainee
Alison Boden, Wyre Borough Council
Cathy Hopley, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit
David Padley, Lancashire County Council
Alex Shutt, Ribble Valley Borough Council
Sarah Robinson, Bowland Haytime Officer and AONB Biodiversity Lead 
Tom Wiggans, Preston City Council
Mike Williams, Pendle Borough Council
Cath Rawcliffe, Legal and Democratic Services

Apologies

County Councillor Kevin Ellard, Lancashire County Council

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2

Councillor Mrs Rosemary Elms, Ribble Valley Borough Council
Councillor Jane Parkinson, Lancaster City Council
Jeremy Duckworth, The Moorland Association
David Porter, Lancaster City Council
Liz Small, North Yorkshire County Council

1.  Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair

Resolved: County Councillor Albert Atkinson and County Councillor Mrs Susie Charles 
were appointed Chair and Vice-Chair respectively for the 2016/2017 Municipal Year.

2.  Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for Absence

County Councillor Albert Atkinson, welcomed all to the meeting.  Round the table 
introductions were made and members of the public were welcomed.

Apologies for absence were noted as above.

Presentation

The Chair of the Committee presented Tarja Wilson and Dave Padley of the Forest of 
Bowland AONB Unit with the National Association of AONB 'Landscapes for Life' long 
service awards.
 
The Committee joined with the Chair in thanking both Tarja and Dave for their long and 
valuable service and wished them well for the future.

3.  Disclosure of Pecuniary  Interests

None declared.

4.  Constitution, Membership and Terms of Reference

Resolved: The Committee approved the Constitution, Membership and Terms of 
Reference for 2016/2017.

5.  Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 April 2016

Resolved: The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 April 2016 were approved as an 
accurate record and signed by the Chairman

6.  AONB Partner Updates

A number of AONB Partners provided verbal updates regarding activities taking place in 
the Forest of Bowland including:

Wyre Borough Council:

Alison Boden informed the meeting of the various initiatives and activities taking place in 
the Wyre area of Bowland. These included working with young people from Lancaster and 

Page 4



3

Morecambe College to help improve access and habitats along the River Wyre. The 
Council had also enlisted the help of the Ramblers Association to identify and report on 
issues associated with public rights of way.
 
Photographs were circulated showing examples of the work carried out by volunteers.

Plans for the next Garstang Walking Festival were well underway, with around 50 walks 
and events having been organised.  The Festival dates will be 6th to 14th May 2017.

Craven District Council:

Councillor Ian Thompson described the work being undertaken by volunteers in the Lower 
Wharfedale area and advised that a further phase of works was planned. 

Friends of Bowland:

Marilyn Pilkington informed the meeting that the 'Friends' had organised 24 practical task 
days which involved hedge planting, balsam clearance and woodland management etc. 
The 'Friends' had also organised 5 guided walks and more walks and task days were 
planned for 2017.  It was reported that links to forthcoming activities were available on the 
Friends of Bowland website at http://forestofbowland.com/Friends-Bowland

Environment Agency

Helen Dix explained that the EA were supporting the development of a programme of 
improvements works across the Ribble catchment in partnership with Ribble Rivers Trust. 
These included fish passages, woodland and wetland management, flood risk 
management and an initiative linking landscape to water at various sites in the Bolton By 
Bowland area, including Bashall Brook and Sabden Brook

Resolved: That the AONB Partner updates be noted.

7.  Revised Estimates 2015/16 and Revenue  Budget 2016/17

Elliott Lorimer presented a report on the Revised Estimates 2016/2017 and Revenue 
Budget 2017/2018.  

The revised estimates took account of an estimated reduction in salary costs due to the 
secondment of the Development and Funding Officer and additional funding which had 
been obtained to support the delivery of projects within the area. 

Elliott also drew attention to the Revenue Budget 2017/18 on page 15 of the agenda 
papers.

Resolved: That:

i) The 2016/17 Revised Estimates be noted.
ii) The 2017/18 Revenue Budget as set out in the report be approved.
iii) That the funding authorities be requested to make appropriate provision in their 

revenue budgets.

Page 5

http://forestofbowland.com/Friends-Bowland


4

8.  AONB Team Activity Report

The Committee received the AONB Unit report which provided updates on a whole range 
of issues and projects drawn from delivery of the AONB management plan.

In addition to the issues raised in the report, the Committee discussed the following 
matters:

 The plight of black grouse - It was expected that a bid would be submitted to the 
Lancashire Environment Fund to help fund the translocation of black grouse from 
their core breeding areas further north in the Pennines to Bowland.

 The Northern Upland Chain Local Nature Partnership (LNP) has been working local 
hill farmers in Bowland to establish a Northern Hill Farmers Panel to represent 
upland farming at a national level and to influence government policy.

 The plight of hen harriers and Peregrine falcons - The meeting was advised that 
hen harriers had failed to nest successfully in Bowland in 2016.  In addition, this 
year was the first time that Peregrine falcons had failed to nest in the Bowland in 
over a decade.

Resolved: That the report be noted

9.  Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership Update

Cathy Hopley, Development Officer, presented an update on the Pendle Hill Landscape 
Partnership. 

The meeting was informed of the objectives of the development phase of the project and 
the progress to date.

Cathy also provided an update on the current development commissions, match funding 
and programme and project development work. 

Jayne Ashe, a graduate trainee was introduced to the Committee. The Committee heard 
that Jane would be assisting with the volunteering group, supporting audience 
development and outreach work and developing the Story Map project.

It was noted that a programme Steering Group had been set up with Cathy, Jayne and 
Elliott providing technical advice and support to the Partnership Board on key issues 
around funding and partnership working.

Resolved:- That the report be noted.

10.  Urgent Business

There were no items of urgent business.

11.  Date of Next Meeting

Page 6



5

Resolved: That future meetings of the Committee be held on the following dates:

Thursday 20 April 2017 at a Bentham Sports Pavilion, Burton in Lonsdale.
Thursday 19 October 2017 at a venue to be arranged in Ribble Valley

Cath Rawcliffe
Democratic Services

Lancashire County Council
County Hall
Preston

Page 7



Page 8



FOREST OF BOWLAND AONB JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

AONB Budget update
(Appendix A refers)

Issue for consideration
This report presents the revised and updated budget for 2017/18 at Appendix 'A' 
(column 3), which takes account of the protected AONB funding settlement agreed 
by Defra in January 2016.  In addition, minor adjustments have been made to 
salaries and on-costs to reflect 1% local authority pay increase.    

Therefore, the budget allows £97,671 for an annual programme of projects to help 
deliver the AONB Management Plan.  It is important to re-emphasise that this 
'Projects' funding will continue to be used as match-funding to attract additional 
income/match funding to the AONB Partnership to help deliver the AONB 
Management Plan.

Decision to be taken

The committee is asked to:

i. note the revised AONB budget for 2017/18

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Page 10



APPENDIX 'A' 
AONB  Partnership Budget 

 Estimated Revised
 2017/18 2017/18

  
(Out-turn 
Prices)

(Out-turn 
Prices)

(1)  (2) (3)
  £ £
Expenditure    
Core Costs    
  Salary, N.I. and Superannuation  144,652 147,663
  Contract support services#  18,965  16,170
  Out-based premises   20,000  20,000
  Travel and subsistence   8,900  8,900
  Central, Departmental & Tech. Support  50,339 51,387
  Core Activities  19,800 19,800
  
  Sub total of Core Costs  262,656 263920
  
Non Core Costs  

 
  Projects  (Management Plan delivery)  98,247 97,671
  
  Sub total of Non Core Costs  98,247 97,671
  
Total Expenditure  360,903 361,951
  
Income  

  Defra Grant  215,364 215,364
    
 Contributions    
  United Utilities  6,800 6,800

  County Councils    
    Lancashire  40,800 40,800
    North Yorkshire*  6,800 6,800
    
  District Councils    
    Craven  6,800 6,800
    Lancaster  6,800 6,800
    Pendle  6,800 6,800
    Preston  6,800 6,800
    Ribble Valley  6,800 6,800
    Wyre  6,800 6,800
  
Total Income  310,564 310,564
  
  Contrib. to support costs (LCC in-kind)  50,339 51,387
  360,903 361,951

# Contract support services to 'backfill' for secondment of Development and Funding Officer and cover 
countryside management duties

* Incl. agreement with NYCC PRoW to support project delivery in Craven area of the AONB

Page 11



Page 12



FOREST OF BOWLAND AONB JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Delivering the AONB Management Plan

Issue for consideration

The report and appendices summarise progress made towards delivery of the AONB 
Management Plan, alongside the draft AONB Unit Business Plan for the coming 
year:

a) AONB Unit Activity Report, October 2016 – April 2017
(Appendix B refers)

This report is a summary of some key AONB projects and activity delivered by the 
AONB Unit since the last Joint Advisory Committee meeting in November 2016.

b) Draft AONB Unit Business Plan 2017/18
(Appendix C refers)

An annual review of the AONB Unit business plan has been completed by the 
Principal AONB Officer in consultation with all members of the AONB Unit.  A final 
draft of the plan is appended for comment.

Decision to be taken

The Committee is asked to:
i. note the reports and offer comments on AONB Unit activity report
ii. approve the AONB Unit business plan for 2017/18

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



Page 14



Forest of Bowland AONB Unit Activity Report Appendix B
November 2016 – April 2017

Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners

Hedgelaying Training and 
Competition

Action 
1.1C

Tue, 1 Nov 
2016

Fri, 31 Mar 
2017

During 2016/17, a total of 18 hedgelaying training days 
were delivered at Scorton, West Bradford, Tosside, Rimington 
with a total of 577 training hours received by trainees. 

In addition, the annual Forest of Bowland AONB Hedgelaying 
Competition took place at Laneside Farm, West Bradford.  The 
competition is run as part of the Lancashire and Westmorland 
Hedgelaying Grand Prix and attracted 28 competitors.

Lancashire and Westmorland Hedgelaying 
Association

Landmark Trees Action 
1.1F

Thu, 3 Nov 
2016

Sun, 3 Dec 
2017

A pilot 'visitor-giving' project to support the replacement of 
landmark or 'veteran' trees is currently under development with 
Downham Estate and local businesses. Downham Estate, Champion Bowland

Brown Syke South - Peatland 
Restoraton

Action 
1.3D

Thu, 3 Nov 
2016

Tue, 3 Oct 
2017

The AONB Unit has continued to manage peatland restoration 
activity on Abbeystead Estate during 2016/17. 

The Environment Agency was able to offer the Forest of Bowland 
AONB funding to manage additional restoration works on a site 
to the south of previous works completed at Brown Syke in 2014 
and 2016.  This work was contracted in late December 2016 and 
commenced in February 2017.  Initial gully re-profiling work has 
been carried out up to 31st March 2017, with the contractors 
scheduled to return in late summer/early autumn to complete 
the works.

Abbeystead Estate, Environment Agency, 
Natural England

Wyre Catchment - Natural 
Flood Management Planning

Action 
1.2E

Thu, 3 Nov 
2016

Sun, 3 Dec 
2017

The AONB has been working with the Wyre Catchment partners 
to develop potential 'Natural Flood Management' projects within 
the Wyre catchment. 

The Wyre Rivers Trust (with the AONB Unit as a partner) made 

Environment Agency, Wyre Rivers Trust, 
Wyre Waters Catchment Partnership, 
Abbeystead Estate

P
age 15



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners
an application to Natural England's Natural Flood Management 
Facilitation Fund in January 2017.  In addition, the Environment 
Agency is leading research to model the impact of NFM 
measures in the Wyre catchment (including peatland restoration, 
woodland, hedgerow and wetland creation) to help plan future 
agency investment to help slow and reduce peak flow.

National Association for 
AONBs 2016/17

Action 
4.4E

Fri, 4 Nov 
2016

Fri, 31 Mar 
2017

The AONB Partnership has been represented or involved in a 
number of NAAONB activities and events during 2016/17:

NAAONB Annual 'Landscapes for Life' Conference in Shropshire, 
July 2016

NAAONB Chairs Conference and AGM in London, November 
2016

NAAONB Communication Officers meeting in Birmingham, 
December 2016

NAAONB Lead Officers meeting in Birmingham, February 2017

Northern AONB Group meeting in May 2016 was hosted by the 
AONB unit.  The meeting was based at the Stirk House Hotel 
(with meeting facilities kindly provided free of charge) 
and included presentations on a variety of projects and activities 
and also two project site visits to Gisburn Forest and Bolton by 
Bowland.

NAAONB

Liaison with AONB Partners 
2016/17

Action 
4.1D

Fri, 4 Nov 
2016

Fri, 31 Mar 
2017

Three AONB Joint Advisory committee meetings were held in 
2016/17 (January, April and November).  Quarterly AONB 
Funders group meetings involving all the local authorities were 
held.

P
age 16



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners

Annual Forum 2016 Action 
2.2I

Fri, 25 Nov 
2016

Fri, 25 Nov 
2016

The annual sustainable tourism forum and Bowland Experience 
AGM was held on 23rd November at the Spread 
Eagle, Sawley and was well attended.  It included discussion 
about Bowland branded products, dark skies and future 
opportunities for the network.

Sustainable Tourism Forum members

Pendle Hill Advisory Group Action 
3.3A

Thu, 8 Dec 
2016

Thu, 8 Dec 
2016

Meeting held in December 2016, involving landowners, local 
authorities, commons graziers group.  A presentation was given 
by the consultants, Fourth Street & Heritage Naturally on a draft 
Pendle Hill Visitor Management Plan.  Group members were able 
to offer comments on the final draft before completion.  The 
Plan will help inform the development of access and visitor 
management projects in the Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership.

Pendle Hill Advisory Group members

Pendle Hill Traditional 
Boundaries

Action 
1.1D

Sun, 1 Jan 
2017

Fri, 1 Sep 
2017

The Pendle Hill Traditional Boundaries Survey was completed in 
March 2017.  The Dry Stone Walling Association (based in 
Crooklands) has agreed to be a lead partner on a Pendle Hill 
Traditional Boundaries Project to work with farmers, land 
managers and hedgelaying & walling contractors to restore and 
create traditional boundaries in priority areas identified in the 
survey.  The project will also offer training opportunities for 
individuals to learn these traditional rural skills.

Dry Stone Walling Association, Lancashire 
and Westmorland Hedgelaying Association

University of Manchester 
Planning Research

Action 
1.7A

Sun, 1 Jan 
2017

Thu, 31 Aug 
2017

A group of students from University of Manchester are carrying 
research to:

Research the different approaches taken by AONBs in England to 
address this issue of harmonisation of planning policies across 
LPAs within an AONB

Using the Forest of Bowland AONB as a case study, suggest a 
range of potential approaches or policy instruments to assist the 

University of Manchester, Lancaster City 
Council, Local Planning Authorities

P
age 17



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners
Forest of Bowland AONB Partnership in addressing this issue.

Plantlife Roadside Verges 
Project

Action 
1.3I

Sun, 1 Jan 
2017

Fri, 31 Mar 
2017

The AONB Biodiversity lead is working with Plantlife and the 
National Association for AONBs to develop a national project to 
help conserve and enhance roadside verges of significant 
botanical interest.  A bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund is planned 
for later in 2017.

Plantlife, NAAONB

What's a Hill Worth Action 
1.2C

Sun, 1 Jan 
2017

Fri, 1 Sep 
2017

As part of the Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership, Lancaster 
Environment Centre at Lancaster University have been engaged 
to support and lead the development of an ecosystem services 
research PhD to investigate the value of the Pendle Hill in terms 
of health and well-being for local and neighbouring communities.

Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancashire 
Wildlife Trust

North Yorkshire County 
Council consultation on PRoW 
Prioritisation Strategy

Action 
3.2A

Sat, 7 Jan 
2017

Wed, 1 Mar 
2017

The AONB Unit provided a response to the NYCC consultation on 
PRoW prioritisation strategy to inform future management and 
maintenance of PRoW in North Yorkshire. North Yorkshire County Council

Biodiversity Working Group - 
Pendle Hill 

Action 
1.2A

Wed, 1 Feb 
2017

Wed, 1 Mar 
2017

The Biodiversity Working Group met in Febrary 2017 to view the 
results of the Pendle Hill Phase 1 Habitat and Traditional 
Boundaries Survey information and develop natural heritage 
project ideas for the Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership area.

Curlew Species Recovery Action 
1.4C

Wed, 1 Mar 
2017

Sat, 31 Mar 
2018

As a partner of the Northern Upland Chain Local Nature 
Partnership, the AONB unit attended a meeting in March 2017 to 
discuss future actions to address the serious decline in the UK 
curlew population. This work will seek to complement 
the research and campaigning already instigated by both RSPB 
and the Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust and will 
include advocacy within Government departments and agencies, 
land management demonstration workshops, events and work 

Nidderdale AONB, North Pennines AONB, 
Northumberland National Park, Yorkshire 
Dales National Park, RSPB, GWCT, Moorland 
Association

P
age 18



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners
with tourism businesses in AONBs and National Parks to raise 
awareness of the plight of curlews to visitors.

Upskilling Lancashire Project Action 
2.1G

Tue, 7 Mar 
2017

Tue, 7 Mar 
2017

A Eurpoean funding bid application for skills for growth was 
submitted on the 10th March 17 by a strategic partnership of 
Universities, Colleges and Forest of Bowland AONB. The 
Upskilling Lancashire project aspires to increase the competitive 
and productive capability of SMEs and microbusinesses across 
the Lancashire Local Enterprise Partnership area.  Subject to the 
success of the outline application and invitation to full 
application, the project seeks to support businesses to identify, 
design, develop and implement work-force education and 
training programmes linked to the strategic needs of businesses. 
If funding bid is successful the project will start Oct 2017 and end 
September 2020. In support of Forest of Bowland agricultural 
industry this will see the project developing new Apprenticeship 
standards related to rural skills and heritage.

University of Central Lancashire; Burnley 
College; Burnley Council; Preston’s College; 
University of Cumbria; Edge Hill University; 
Myerscough College

Bees Needs and Pollinator 
Project

Action 
1.3F

Mon, 27 
Mar 2017

Sat, 31 Mar 
2018

A successful funding application was submitted to DEFRA for 
Local Nature Partnership Pollinator projects in February 2017. 
The Bees Needs and Pollinator Project will pilot an approach to 
assist large scale landowners within the Northern Upland Chain 
LNP  to support the five strategic aims of the National Pollinator 
Strategy and call to action message of 'Bees Needs: Food and a 
Home'. It will focus on two large scale estates within the Forest 
of Bowland AONB to develop a methodology for surveying 
pollinator habitats, including sustainable action plan 
development with landowners, and evaluation to enable shared 
learning with other similar estates and in the Northern Upland 
Chain LNP and other LNPs. There are four key milestones for 
delivery during April 17 - March 18. The Project Lead is the Hay 
Time Project Officer.

Land Agent, Grosvenor Estate, Abbeystead; 
Head of Rural Estate, Duchy of Lancaster, 
Whitewell Estate; Game & Wildlife 
Conservation Trust (Representing 
'Landscapes for Wild Pollinators partnership' 
with Natural England, the Duchy of Lancaster 
and GWCT); Biodiversity Lead North 
Pennines AONB/North Upland Chain; 
Northern Upland Chain LNP Partners & 
Forum. 

Undergrounding for Visual Action Sat, 1 Apr Sat, 30 Sep The UVA scheme for a 3km stretch of overhead line between Electricity Northwest Limited

P
age 19



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners
Amenity 2016/17 (continued) 1.7H 2017 2017 Crimpton and Ing Barn (on the Cow Ark to Newton road) is 

scheduled to commence in spring 2017.

2017 Discovery Guide Launch Action 
3.4C

Tue, 4 Apr 
2017

Tue, 4 Apr 
2017

The Discovery Guide was launched at an event held at Holmes 
Mill, Clitheroe on 2nd February.  The launch attracted a large 
number of partners including BEx members, Champion Bowland 
Trustees, Festival Bowland organisers and tourism partners.  The 
guide was well supported by members in terms of advertising 
and the guide has so far been well received.

Sustainable Tourism Forum members, 
Holmes Mill (Bowland Brewery)

Pendle Hill LP PEN Pilot project Action 
3.6C

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

The PEN (People Enjoying Nature) project is being pilotted as 
part of the Pendle Hill LP scheme in summer 2017. Led by Jayne 
Ashe, assistant development officer for the scheme, and working 
in partnership with NHS colleagues from East Lancashire, we will 
run 12 afternoon trips to the LP area for people dealing with 
mental health and social isolation issues. Funded through the 
HLF grant clients will have opportunity to build a dry stone wall, 
try bushcraft activity, geocaching, wildlife surveys etc. The pilot 
will be fully evaluated and learning fed into the project plan to 
be delivered 2018-22.

Hedgelaying training in Pendle 
Hill area

Action 
1.1C

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Two days of hedgelaying training were held at Higher Gills Farm 
in Rimington in early 2017. Thanks to the Pilkington family and 
tutors Geoff and Joe a good length of young hedge was laid by 17 
eager volunteers.

Phase 1 Habitat Survey of 
Pendle Hill LP area

Action 
1.3B

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

As part of the development stage of the LPS Rigby Jerram was 
commissioned in 2016 to undertake a phase 1 habitat survey of 
the entire LP area (120km2) which includes the Pendle Hill outlier 
of the AONB. This data is now published (March 2017) and 
available via LERN and the AONB to partners involved in the 
scheme. Data includes BHS target notes, GIS mapping, 

P
age 20



Activity title Action Start date End date Description Other Partners
analysis, and an action plan recommending priority sites to 
improve management. Full details available on request.

Pendle Hill LPS Development 
work

Action 
1.6B

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

The LP is now in development stage and we plan to submit our 
stage 2 application to HLF in September 2017. To date we have 
appointed 4 lead partners for projects and intend to appoint 1 or 
2 further partners soon. The AONB/LP team will lead the 
remaining 10 or so projects. We are currently applying for match 
funds and drafting project plans for individual projects, and also 
carrying out pilot activity such as establishing the Pendle Hill 
volunteers and organising a summer PEN scheme - working with 
people dealing with social isolation and mental health issues.

AONB Sustainable 
Development Fund 2017

Action 
2.3I

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Thu, 6 Apr 
2017

Although the SDF grant scheme has officially closed, some funds 
have been unspent or projects have not taken place. In 2017 we 
have therefore been able to support 2 new grants, to Tosside 
village hall to install LED lighting, and to Remix Summits Ltd to 
support the development of a new website called Pendlefolk, 
which will support the Pendle Hill LP scheme with innovative 
new IT opportunities and a volunteer editorial board.

AONB SDF Panel

P
age 21



P
age 22



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Draft Feb 2017 1 

 

 

 

AONB Unit Business Plan 2014 – 2017 

 

AONB Unit Business Plan 

DRAFT April 2017 

Page 23

crawcliffe001
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_1
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_2
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_3
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_4
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_5
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_6
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_7
Typewritten Text
                           

crawcliffe001_8
Typewritten Text

crawcliffe001_9
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX C

crawcliffe001_10
Typewritten Text



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

2 Draft April 2017 

AONB Unit Business Plan 2017-2020 

 

Introduction 
 

The Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is one of England’s finest landscapes and is 

internationally important for its heather moorland, blanket bog and rare birds. The special qualities of the area which 

contribute to its distinctive 'sense of place' can be summarised as: 

 

 Wild open spaces 

 A special place for wildlife 

 A landscape rich in heritage 

 A living landscape 

 Delicious local food and drink 

 A place to enjoy and keep special 

 

The AONB designation means that the natural beauty of the landscape should not only be conserved and enhanced, but 

also that recreation and sustainable rural development should be promoted to help to sustain the landscape and its 

communities.   

 

 

The AONB Partnership and Unit 
 

The AONB is managed by a partnership of local councils, utility company, landowners, farmers, voluntary organisations, 

wildlife groups, recreation groups, and government agencies, who work to protect, conserve and enhance the natural 

and cultural heritage of this special area.   

 

The Partnership is funded by eight local authorities (Craven District Council, Lancashire County Council, Lancaster City 

Council, North Yorkshire County Council, Pendle Borough Council, Preston City Council, Ribble Valley Borough 

Council, Wyre Council), United Utilities and the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). 

 

The AONB Unit is the staff team, who are employed on behalf of the AONB Partnership, to prepare and implement the 

statutory AONB Management Plan.  The AONB Unit comprises seven staff members (6.8FTE) and an 

office/administration volunteer, with additional support from Lancashire County Council Senior Environmental Project 

Officer. 

 

 

A Plan for the Future 
 

This business plan sets out how the AONB Unit will contribute to the work of the Partnership in achieving the long-

term vision for the AONB: 

 

"The Forest of Bowland AONB retains its sense of local distinctiveness, notably the large-scale open moorland character of the 

Bowland Fells, traditional buildings and settlement patterns of villages, hamlets and farmsteads. Natural and cultural heritage is 

sympathetically managed and contributes to a sustainable and vibrant local economy. The management of the AONB has 

improved the quality of the landscape for all." 

 

Page 24



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Draft Feb 2017 3 

The AONB Unit is working towards four key outcomes, in accordance with the AONB Management Plan 2014 - 2019: 

 

1. An outstanding landscape of natural and cultural heritage 

2. Resilient and sustainable communities 

3. A strong connection between people and the landscape 

4. A dynamic and effective AONB partnership 

 

 

The Business Plan 
 

This plan will guide the work of the AONB Unit from 2017 - 2020. The actions within it link directly to the 

implementation of the statutory AONB Management Plan and links are shown against each action.  It is designed to be a 

rolling 3-year plan, which is reviewed and updated annually. 

 

The AONB Unit aims to work with the following values at the core of its operation: 

 

 We are knowledgeable and passionate about the AONB - its landscape, biodiversity, culture and heritage 

 We care about the environment and sustainability 

 We work together with others to achieve success 

 We value people and are approachable and responsive 

 We communicate clearly and effectively 

 

It should also be recognised that this plan relies on the work of other partner organisations, communities and individuals 

to achieve the successful delivery of the AONB Management Plan and the long-term vision for the area. 

Page 25



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

4 Draft April 2017 

Strategic Priorities 2017 - 2020 
An outstanding landscape 

of natural and cultural 

heritage 

Resilient and sustainable 

rural communities 

A strong connection 

between people and the 

landscape 

A dynamic and effective 

AONB Partnership 

OL1 Provide and seek advice, 

training and support to promote 

sustainable land management 

practices; helping to safeguard the 

natural and cultural landscape of 

the AONB.   

 

OL2 Continue a strategic 

programme of restoration and re-

establishment of traditional 

boundaries (e.g. hedgerows, dry 

stone walls, railing fences); allied to 

provision of training opportunities 

to promote skills associated with 

these traditional boundaries. 

 

OL3 Co-ordinate partner activity 

in conserving and enhancing 

biodiversity and in developing 

better understanding and 

management of ecosystems 

services with the AONB. 

 

OL4 Work with others, in 

particular local authorities, to 

establish development 

management and other 

policies/strategies, which result in 

positive outcomes for the 

landscape quality of the AONB. 

SC1 Continue to support and 

develop local parish lengthsman 

schemes within the AONB to 

assist in the management and 

maintenance of key community 

assets. 

 

SC2 Support and promote local 

businesses and products to 

maintain their viability. 

 

SC3 Continue to support the 

management of Champion 

Bowland Grants Funds; whilst also 

responding to local community 

requests for advice and support 

on funding, project management 

and volunteering.  

 

SC4 Continue to develop, 

support and promote local 

tourism businesses; building on 

the AONB's reputation as an 

internationally-recognised 

destination for sustainable 

tourism. 

 

PL1 Develop, improve, and 

promote countryside access and 

recreational opportunities for a 

diverse range of people. 

 
PL2 Provide high quality 

information, communications and 

events to enable people to enjoy 

and understand the landscape of 

the AONB and the work of the 

AONB Partnership. 

 
PL3 Support local communities 

and visitors to conserve, restore, 

enjoy and learn about the heritage 

of the AONB, and develop 

programmes of activity which 

provide opportunities to engage 

people with the landscape. 

 

AP1 Work with others to 

maximise the successful delivery 

of the AONB Management Plan 

and effectively monitor progress. 

 
AP2 Achieve excellence in the 

governance and management of 

the AONB Partnership and Unit, 

its people and resources; and 

helping to identify sustainable 

future funding to support these. 

 

 

AONB Unit 

EL – Elliott Lorimer, Principal AONB Officer 

HB – Hetty Byrne, Sustainable Tourism Officer 

SS – Sandra Silk, Projects and Events Officer 

LRS – Lorraine Ritchen-Stones, Development and Funding Lead (contract to September 2017) 

CT – Charlotte Taylor, Office/Admin Assistant (volunteer) 

 

Project staff 

CH – Cathy Hopley, Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership Development Officer (secondment to September 2017) 

JA – Jayne Ashe, Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership Assistant Development Officer (contract to September 2017)   

SR – Sarah Robinson, Bowland Haytime Officer / Biodiversity Lead (contract to March 2018) 

 

Lancashire County Council Countryside Service and Environment and Community Projects 

TB – Tim Blythe, Countryside Service Manager 

DP – Dave Padley, Senior Environmental Projects Officer 

Page 26



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

An outstanding landscape of natural and cultural heritage (OL) 

OL1 Provide and seek advice, training and support to promote sustainable land management practices; helping to safeguard the natural 

and cultural landscape of the AONB 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

OL1.1 Provide advice, guidance and encouragement to land 

managers on sustainable land management of the AONB 

landscape 

 

Hold regular CS liaison 

meetings with local 

Natural England team 

 

 

Continue to support 

the development of 

Pendle Hill Farmers 

Network  

 

 

Apply  to Natural 

England's Countryside 

Stewardship 

Facilitation Fund to 

support PHF Network 

 

Assist implementation 

Hold regular CS liaison 

meetings with local 

Natural England team 

 

 

Continue support and 

funding for Pendle Hill 

Farmers Network 

through the Pendle Hill 

Landscape Partnership 

delivery phase 

Hold regular CS liaison 

meetings with local 

Natural England team 

Team 

 

Continue support and 

funding for Pendle Hill 

Farmers Network 

through the Pendle Hill 

Landscape Partnership 

1.1, 1.2, 2.1 EL/SR 

 

 

 

 

 

CH/SR 

 

 

 

 

 

CH/SR/EL 

 

 

 

 

P
age 27



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

and testing of 

Northern Upland 

Chain LNP Result-

based Agri-

environment Payments 

Scheme pilot  

 

 

SR/EL 

OL1.2 Liaise with woodland planting and management 

initiatives to encourage and support appropriate woodland 

extension, creation and management within the AONB 

landscape 

Respond to Forestry 

Commission 

consultations regarding 

felling licences, 

woodland management 

plans and woodland 

grant applications 

 

Develop visitor-giving 

initiative with BEx 

businesses to support 

future replacement of 

'landscape' or 'veteran' 

trees lost due to 

age/tree disease  

 

Respond to Forestry 

Commission 

consultations regarding 

felling licences, 

woodland management 

plans and woodland 

grant applications 

 

Respond to Forestry 

Commission 

consultations regarding 

felling licences, 

woodland management 

plans and woodland 

grant applications 

 

1.1 EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SS/HB 

P
age 28



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 

OL1.3 Engage with River Catchment Partnerships for Ribble, 

Wyre and Lune to encourage catchment management for both 

biodiversity and landscape. 

Regular attendance at 

River Catchment 

Partnership Board 

meetings 

 

Commence joint 

project delivery and 

support for 'Ribble Life 

Together' Project 

 

Support groups 

established in the 

AONB under Natural 

England's Natural 

Flood Management 

Facilitation Fund 

 

Work jointly with 

'Living Lune' 

Catchment Partnership 

on 'Slow the Flow' 

funded, natural flood 

management study 

Regular attendance at 

River Catchment 

Partnership Board 

meetings 

 

Regular attendance at 

River Catchment 

Partnership Board 

meetings 

 

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 EL 

 

 

 

 

 

SS/HB/EL 

 

 

 

EL/SR 

 

 

 

 

 

EL/SR 

OL2 Continue a strategic programme of restoration and re-establishment of traditional boundaries (e.g. hedgerows, dry-stone walls, railing 

fences); allied to provision of training opportunities to promote traditional rural skills 

P
age 29



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

OL2.1  Provide training opportunities and competitions in 

hedge-laying and walling (including support for vocational 

training) 

At least 6 training days 

provided 

 

Annual competition 

held 

 

At least 6 training days 

provided 

 

Annual competition 

held 

 

At least 6 training days 

provided 

 

Annual competition 

held 

 

1.1, 1.6, 2.1 SS/DP 

OL2.2 Develop and deliver a traditional boundaries project as 

part of the Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership 

Work with Dry Stone 

Walling Association 

(DSWA) and 

Lancashire and 

Westmoreland 

Hedgelaying 

Association to develop 

project to offer 

training, grants and 

support for farmers 

and landowners for 

Pendle Hill 

 

Support delivery by 

DSWA of Pendle Hill 

Traditional Boundaries 

Project 

Support delivery by 

DSWA of Pendle Hill 

Traditional Boundaries 

Project 

1.1, 1.6, 2.1 CH/JA 

OL3 Co-ordinate partner activity  in conserving and enhancing biodiversity and in developing a better understanding and management of 

ecosystem services within the AONB  

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Unit lead 

and support 

P
age 30



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Objectives 

OL3.1 Hold regular meeting of the AONB Biodiversity 

Working Group to support the delivery of Biodiversity 2020 

'outcomes'  

 

(Refer to Annual Delivery Plan for further details) 

Annual meeting held 

 

Annual Delivery Plan 

reviewed and updated 

 

At least 1 local species 

recovery plans 

developed 

 

Delivery of established 

local species recovery 

plans (juniper, 

globeflower and 

greater butterfly 

orchid) 

 

Develop 'Natural 

Heritage' projects with 

lead project partners 

for inclusion in PHLP 

(e.g HNV farming, 

Summit project and 

woodlands and 

traditional boundaries) 

 

Annual meeting held 

 

Annual Delivery Plan 

reviewed and updated 

 

At least 1 local 

species recovery plans 

developed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual meeting held 

 

Annual Delivery Plan 

reviewed and updated 

 

At least 1 local species 

recovery plans 

developed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2, 1.3, 1.4 

 

SR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CH/SR 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 31



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 Review ecosystems 

approach self-

assessment (BD2020 

Outcome 1C) 

EL 

 

 

OL3.2 Utiltise the AONB 'Priority Peat' Report to identify and 

secure funding for peatland restoration works on blanket bog 

habitats within the AONB. 

 

Co-ordinate Lancashire 

Peat Partnership 

meetings at least once 

annually  

 

Support delivery of the 

Pennine Peat LIFE 

project activity at 

selected sites within 

the AONB 

 

Peatland restoration 

works at Brown Syke 

South, Mallowdale 

completed 

 

Attend Lancashire & 

Pennine Peat 

Partnership meetings  

 

 

Support delivery of 

the Pennine Peat LIFE 

project activity at 

selected sites within 

the AONB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attend Lancashire & 

Pennine Peat 

Partnership meetings  

 

 

Support delivery of the 

Pennine Peat LIFE 

project activity at 

selected sites within the 

AONB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2, 1.3, 2.1 SR/EL 

 

 

 

 

 

EL/SR 

 

 

 

 

SR 

OL3.3 Encourage the restoration of areas of exposed and 

eroded peat and the conservation and restoration of blanket 

bog and mosaic of moorland dwarf shrub species, as part of 

Countryside Stewardship 

Hold regular meetings 

with local NE Land 

Management Advisors 

 

Liaise with NE and 

moorland owners to 

Hold regular meetings 

with local NE Land 

Management Advisors 

 

Liaise with NE and 

moorland owners to 

Hold regular meetings 

with local NE Land 

Management Advisors 

 

Liaise with NE and 

moorland owners to 

1.2, 1.3, 2.1 EL/SR 

 

 

 

EL 

P
age 32



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

assist with 

implementation of 

Bowland Fells SSSI/SPA 

Framework Agreement 

 

assist with 

implementation of 

Bowland Fells 

SSSI/SPA Framework 

Agreement 

 

assist with 

implementation of 

Bowland Fells SSSI/SPA 

Framework Agreement 

 

OL3.4 Encourage good practice in upland heather burning and 

alternatives; helping to develop a fire prevention strategy and 

fire plans for the area 

 

Attend regular AONB-

wide fire operations 

group meetings and 

exercises 

 

Attend regular 

AONB-wide fire 

operations group 

meetings and 

exercises 

 

Attend regular AONB-

wide fire operations 

group meetings and 

exercises 

 

2.1, 3.2 EL 

 

 

 

 

OL3.5 Delivery of 'Bowland Haytime' Project (up to end March 

2018) to help conserve and enhance species-rich grassland 

within the AONB 

 

 

Conserve, restore and 

create 15ha of species-

rich grassland 

 

Continue work with 

community groups and 

smallholders to 

develop sustainable 

restoration projects 

for species-rich 

grassland and small 

sites 

 

Carry out monitoring 

of project restoration 

Continue joint 

species-rich grassland 

restoration project 

with Yorkshire Dales 

Millenium Trust 

(subject to funding 

being secured) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue joint species-

rich grassland 

restoration project with 

Yorkshire Dales 

Millenium Trust (subject 

to funding being 

secured) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.3, 2.3 SR/LRS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

sites 

 

Hold 3 community 

engagement events 

 

Submit joint funding 

bids with Yorkshire 

Dales Millennium Trust 

to support costs of an 

AONB species-rich 

grassland restoration 

project in 2017/18 and 

beyond 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LRS/SR 

 

 

 

OL3.6  Support Bowland Land Managers Forum to develop 

collaborative land management project 

 

Work with GWCT to 

progress licence 

application to NE for 

translocation of black 

grouse to Bowland 

Fells 

 

Hold meeting with 

Black Grouse England 

BAP Group to discuss 

project aims and 

objectives 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.4, 2.1 EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EL 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Submit funding bids to 

support Bowland Black 

Grouse Project 

 

Delivery of project 

commences (subject 

to funding being 

secured) 

Continue project 

delivery and monitoring  

 

EL/LRS 

OL3.7 Develop proposals for AONB woodland project to 

involve woodland owners/managers and communities in 

improving and increasing woodland management, supporting 

traditional skills such as coppicing 

  

Hold AONB 

conference/seminar for 

landowners, farmers 

and community groups 

on opportunities for 

improving woodland 

management 

 

  1.2, 1.3 LRS 

OL3.8  Support local actions to provide suitable conditions to 

re-establish hen harrier as a breeding species in the AONB, in 

line with the government's Hen Harrier Joint Action Plan 

Work with Natural 

England and local 

partners to develop 

local actions to 

support the 

implementation of the 

Joint Hen Harrier 

Action Plan 

 

Active participation in 

the 'Northern England 

Protected Landscapes 

Hen Harrier Group' 

meetings to annually 

agree and implement 

Work with Natural 

England and local 

partners to develop 

local actions to 

support the 

implementation of the 

Joint Hen Harrier 

Action Plan 

 

Active participation in 

the 'Northern England 

Protected Landscapes 

Hen Harrier Group' 

meetings to annually 

agree and implement 

Work with Natural 

England and local 

partners to develop 

local actions to support 

the implementation of 

the Joint Hen Harrier 

Action Plan 

 

 

Active participation in 

the 'Northern England 

Protected Landscapes 

Hen Harrier Group' 

meetings to annually 

agree and implement 

1.4 EL 

P
age 35



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

(where necessary) 

response and 

communications 

protocols for breeding 

HH in England 

 

(where necessary) 

response and 

communications 

protocols for 

breeding HH in 

England 

 

(where necessary) 

response and 

communications 

protocols for breeding 

HH in England 

 

OL3.8  Work with Northern Upland Chain Local Nature 

Partnership (and other LNPs where appropriate) to develop 

LNP-wide initiatives to conserve and enhance biodiversity and 

management of the area's natural capital 

 

Regulaly attend  NUC 

LNP board meetings 

and annual forum 

 

Active involvement of 

AONB unit and local 

farmers in NUCLNP 

High Nature Value 

Farming Group 

 

Chair and lead the 

work of the NUCLNP 

Hay Meadows Group  

 

Develop and 

disseminate best 

practice advice and 

guidance with NUC 

LNP for species-rich 

grassland restoration 

Regulaly attend  NUC 

LNP board meetings 

and annual forum 

 

Active involvement of 

AONB unit and local 

farmers in NUCLNP 

High Nature Value 

Farming Group 

 

Regulaly attend  NUC 

LNP board meetings 

and annual forum 

 

Active involvement of 

AONB unit and local 

farmers in NUCLNP 

High Nature Value 

Farming Group 

 

 EL 

 

 

 

 

SR/EL 

 

 

 

 

EL 

 

 

 

SR/EL 

P
age 36



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

and management 

OL4 Work with others, in particular the local authorities, to establish development management and other policies/strategies, which result 

in positive outcomes for the landscape quality of the AONB 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

OL4.1 Provide appropriate advice, support and formal 

responses to development proposals and consultations on 

policies/strategies that affect the AONB and its setting (in 

particular planning applications, local plan consultations and 

other local, sub-national and national strategies) 

 

Appropriate responses 

provided 

Appropriate 

responses provided 

Appropriate responses 

provided 

1.1, 1.7 EL 

OL4.2 Continue working with Electricity Northwest to deliver 

a programme of projects to underground overhead power 

lines in the AONB  

At least 2 UVA 

projects delivered 

 

 

At least 2 UVA 

projects delivered 

 

At least 2 UVA projects 

delivered 

 

1.1, 1.7 EL 

OL4.3 Liaise with local authority planning officers on relevant 

AONB planning concerns (landscape character, wind energy, 

tourism business development, energy efficiency in older 

buildings) 

Planning and 

development seminar 

held 

 Planning and 

development seminar 

held 

1.1, 1.2, 1.7 EL 

P
age 37



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Resilient and sustainable rural communities (SC) 

SC1 Continue to support and develop local parish lengthsman schemes within the AONB to assist in the management and maintenance of 

key community assets 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

SC1.1 Support Parish Councils to continue to fund and manage 

existing lengthsman schemes 

AONB grant offer 

made to Parish 

Councils/Meetings  

 

AONB grant offer 

made to Parish 

Councils/Meetings 

AONB grant offer 

made to Parish 

Councils/Meetings 

 

2.3, 4.2 SS/DP 

SC1.2 Work with Parish Councils to develop best practice 

(e.g. record-keeping) to help demonstrate best value 

Meetings held with 

Parish Clerks for 

AONB-supported 

schemes 

 

Scheme monitoring 

information received 

from Parish 

Councils/Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme monitoring 

information received 

from Parish 

Councils/Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scheme monitoring 

information received 

from Parish 

Councils/Meetings 

 

2.3 SS 

P
age 38



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 

SC2 Support and promote local businesses and products to maintain their viability 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

SC2.1 Support local businesses, via provision of advice, 

signposting, funding opportunities (e.g. LEADER), training, 

networking opportunities and events 

One-to-one business 

advice / support 

provided 

 

 

One-to-one business 

advice / support 

provided 

 

One-to-one business 

advice / support 

provided 

 

2.2, 2.3, 2.4 HB/EL 

SC2.2 Continue to provide support for Bowland Experience 

Ltd. (BEx) 

 

BEx board meetings 

held (min. 2/year) 

 

Work alongside YDMT 

to provide secretariat 

for BEx board 

 

Investigate, plan and 

implement (if agreed) 

the reform of BEx to 

new governance 

arrangements to 

reduce administration 

and offer cost savings 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2, 2.4 HB 

 

HB 

 

 

 

 

LRS/HB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 39



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Regular tourism 

business bulletin 

produced and 

distributed 

 

2 training events for 

businesses held and 

evaluated 

 

Regular tourism 

business bulletin 

produced and 

distributed 

 

2 training events for 

businesses held and 

evaluated 

 

Regular tourism 

business bulletin 

produced and 

distributed 

 

2 training events for 

businesses held and 

evaluated 

 

HB 

 

 

 

 

HB 

SC2.3 Continue to support the development, management and 

promotion of the Champion Bowland 

 

Work alongside YDMT 

to provide secretariat 

for Champion Bowland 

board of trustees 

 

Champion Bowland 

trustees meetings held 

(min. 2/year) 

 

Investigate, plan and 

implement (if agreed) 

the reform of CB to 

new governance 

arrangements to 

reduce administration 

and offer cost savings 

 

Apply to Charities 

Work alongside YDMT 

to provide secretariat 

for Champion Bowland 

board of trustees 

 

Champion Bowland 

trustees meetings held 

(min. 2/year) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Work alongside YDMT 

to provide secretariat 

for Champion Bowland 

board of trustees 

 

Champion Bowland 

trustees meetings held 

(min. 2/year) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2, 2.3, 2.4 LRS/CH 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LRS/CH 

 

 

 

 

P
age 40



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Commission to 

become a Registered 

Charity (including 

required supporting 

documents) 

 

Manage and administer 

Champion Bowland 

Small Grants Fund 

 

Delivery of AONB 

'Farm Visit Transport 

Fund' through 

Champion Bowland 

LRS 

 

 

 

 

LRS 

 

 

 

SS 

 

 

SC2.5 Support the continued development of 'Bowland Land 

Managers Forum' 

Forum meeting held at 

least annually 

 

Involve Forum 

members in the 

Northern Upland 

Chain LNP High-

Nature Value Farming 

Group and LEADER 

LAGs 

 

Hold meeting with 

farming forum 

Forum meeting held at 

least annually 

 

Involve Forum 

members in the 

Northern Upland 

Chain LNP High-

Nature Value Farming 

Group and LEADER 

LAGs 

 

Forum meeting held at 

least annually 

 

Involve Forum 

members in the 

Northern Upland 

Chain LNP High-

Nature Value Farming 

Group and LEADER 

LAGs 

 

2.1, 2.2, 4.2 EL 

P
age 41



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

members to discuss 

local representation 

on- and 

communication with 

Northern Hill Farmers 

Panel 

 

SC2.6  Develop and support apprenticeship schemes in 

countryside management, heritage and traditional rural skills 

 

Develop 

apprenticeships 

scheme as part of 

PHLP Development 

Phase 

Commence delivery of 

apprenticeships 

scheme as part of 

PHLP Delivery Phase 

Continue delivery of 

apprenticeships 

scheme as part of 

PHLP Delivery Phase  

 LRS/CH 

 

 

 

 

SC3 Continue to support the management and administration of Champion Bowland Small Grants Fund; whilst also responding to local 

community requests for advice and support on funding, project management and volunteering 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

SC3.1 Support management and administration of the 

Champion Bowland Small Grants Fund to support small-scale, 

community-based projects in the AONB 

 

CB Small Grants Fund 

grants administered, as 

required 

CB Small Grants Fund 

grants administered, as 

required 

CB Small Grants Fund 

grants administered, as 

required 

 LRS/SS 

SC3.2 Provide support to communities seeking project 

development and funding advice and assistance  (e.g. projects 

to improve provision of rural services, renewable energy 

projects and local community events) 

 

5 community groups 

advised 

 

3 community projects 

supported  

5 community groups 

advised 

 

3 community projects 

supported  

5 community groups 

advised 

 

3 community projects 

supported  

2.3 SS/LRS 

 

 

 

P
age 42



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

(Bentham CRP, Pendle 

Hill gateway signs & 

River Roeburn 

projects) 

 

Continue  to co-

ordinate and deliver a 

programme of 

awareness-raising 

activities (where 

resource allow) e.g. 

talks, attendance at 

local shows and events 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue  to co-

ordinate and deliver a 

programme of 

awareness-raising 

activities (where 

resource allow) e.g. 

talks, attendance at 

local shows and events 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue  to co-

ordinate and deliver a 

programme of 

awareness-raising 

activities (where 

resource allow) e.g. 

talks, attendance at 

local shows and events 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HB/All 

SC4 Continue to develop, support and promote local tourism businesses; building on the AONB's reputation as an internationally-

recognised destination for sustainable tourism 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

SC4.1 Promote the strong 'brand identity' for AONB visitors, 

working closely with tourism organisations, visitor information 

centres, businesses and gateway towns 

 

AONB branding used 

in variety of formats 

(e.g. publications, 

website, exhibition 

panels, pop-up 

banners) 

 

Continue collaboration 

AONB branding used 

in variety of formats 

(e.g. publications, 

website, exhibition 

panels, pop-up 

banners) 

 

Continue collaboration 

AONB branding used 

in variety of formats 

(e.g. publications, 

website, exhibition 

panels, pop-up 

banners) 

 

Continue collaboration 

3.4, 3.5 HB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 43



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

with Marketing 

Lancashire, Welcome 

to Yorkshire and 

district tourism 

partners to effectively 

promote AONB as a 

sustainable tourism 

destination 

 

with Marketing 

Lancashire, Welcome 

to Yorkshire and 

district tourism 

partners to effectively 

promote AONB as a 

sustainable tourism 

destination 

 

Develop branding for 

Pendle Hill Landscape 

Partnership, which 

complements and adds 

to AONB branding 

 

with Marketing 

Lancashire, Welcome 

to Yorkshire and 

district tourism 

partners to effectively 

promote AONB as a 

sustainable tourism 

destination 

 

HB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HB 

 

 

 

 

SC4.2 Support sustainable tourism projects in the AONB 

 

At least 1 sustainable 

tourism project 

delivered, (including 

'business cluster' 

projects) 

 

Ensure AONB 

businesses involvement 

in RDPE/LEADER 

LAGs (potential 

applicants & project 

ideas) 

At least 1 sustainable 

tourism project 

delivered, (including 

'business cluster' 

projects) 

 

Ensure AONB 

businesses involvement 

in RDPE/LEADER 

LAGs (potential 

applicants & project 

ideas) 

At least 1 sustainable 

tourism project 

delivered, (including 

'business cluster' 

projects) 

 

Ensure AONB 

businesses involvement 

in RDPE/LEADER 

LAGs (potential 

applicants & project 

ideas) 

2.2, 2.4, 3.4C HB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 

Produce AONB 

Discovery Guide 2018. 

Review and reprint if 

funding permits and 

tourism businesses 

support 

 

Develop interpretation 

at- and linked activity 

from rail stations with 

Northern Rail and 

Community Rail 

Partnerships (e.g. 

Bentham Dementia 

Friendly project) 

 

 

Produce AONB 

Discovery Guide 2019. 

Review and reprint if 

funding permits and 

tourism businesses 

support 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Produce AONB 

Discovery Guide 2020. 

Review and reprint if 

funding permits and 

tourism businesses 

support 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SS 

SC4.3 Continue to support and develop tourism business by 

holding an annual Forest of Bowland Sustainable Tourism 

Forum 

 

ST Forum held 

 

 

ST Forum held 

 

 

ST Forum held 

 

 

2.2, 2.4 HB 

SC4.4 Carry out evaluation and monitoring of visitor and 

tourism enterprise information, in particular visitor pressure, 

patterns and future markets (including occupancy and 

satisfaction data) 

 

Complete Pendle Hill 

Tourism Study to 

prioritise sustainable 

tourism development 

activity as part of PHLP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.2, 2.4 HB 

P
age 45



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Continue to liaise with 

Marketing Lancashire 

and local authority 

tourism officers to 

gather visitor 

economy, where 

required and funding 

allows 

 

 

Continue to liaise with 

Marketing Lancashire 

and local authority 

tourism officers to 

gather visitor 

economy, where 

required and funding 

allows 

 

Continue to liaise with 

Marketing Lancashire 

and local authority 

tourism officers to 

gather visitor 

economy, where 

required and funding 

allows 

SC4.5 Promote and share good practice of the AONB, as a 

Protected Landscape leading the development of sustainable 

tourism in UK and Europe 

 

Continue  to work 

with NAAONB, other 

Protected Landscapes, 

Visit England and 

Green Tourism to 

share best practice and 

develop sustainable 

tourism collaboration 

amongst AONBs and 

National Parks 

 

Continue  to work 

with NAAONB, other 

Protected Landscapes, 

Visit England and 

Green Tourism to 

share best practice and 

develop sustainable 

tourism collaboration 

amongst AONBs and 

National Parks 

 

Continue  to work 

with NAAONB, other 

Protected Landscapes, 

Visit England and 

Green Tourism to 

share best practice and 

develop sustainable 

tourism collaboration 

amongst AONBs and 

National Parks 

 

2.2, 2.4, 4.4 HB/SS 

P
age 46



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

SC4.6 Continue to work with and promote local producers Manage, review and 

update local produce 

database 

 

AONB attendance at  

at least 2 agri. shows/ 

local produce events 

per year 

Manage, review and 

update local produce 

database 

 

Regularly review 

AONB future 

involvement in agri. 

shows/ local produce 

events 

Manage, review and 

update local produce 

database 

 

Regularly review 

AONB future 

involvement in agri. 

shows/ local produce 

events 

2.1, 2.2 HB/SS 

P
age 47



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

A strong connection between people and the landscape (PL) 

PL1 Develop, improve and promote access and recreational opportunities for a diverse range of people 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

PL1.1 Work in partnership with key stakeholders to manage, 

maintain, and improve access in the wider countryside of the 

AONB;  

 

Regular meetings of 

local stakeholder 

groups (e.g. Pendle Hill 

Advisory Group, 

Stocks and Gisburn 

Forest) to address 

access and recreation 

issues or concerns 

 

Regular meetings of 

local stakeholders (e.g. 

Pendle Hill Advisory 

Group, Stocks and 

Gisburn Forest) to 

address access and 

recreation issues or 

concerns 

 

Regular meetings of 

local stakeholders (e.g. 

Pendle Hill Advisory 

Group, Stocks and 

Gisburn Forest) to 

address access and 

recreation issues or 

concerns 

 

3.1, 3.2, 3.3 EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PL1.2  Carry out regular reviews of existing AONB promoted 

routes to maintain route condition, furniture, signage etc. 

 

Continue to support 

volunteer monitoring 

system for existing 

AONB promoted 

routes 

 

Contract works to 

carry out small-scale 

improvement and 

maintenance of 

promoted routes, 

Continue to support 

volunteer monitoring 

system for existing 

AONB promoted 

routes 

 

Contract works to 

carry out small-scale 

improvement and 

maintenance of 

promoted routes, 

Continue to support 

volunteer monitoring 

system for existing 

AONB promoted 

routes 

 

Contract works to 

carry out small-scale 

improvement and 

maintenance of 

promoted routes, 

3.1, 3.2, 3.3 SS 

 

 

 

 

 

SS/ C'side 

Mgt. 

Contract 

 

P
age 48



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

where resources allow 

 

where resources allow 

 

where resources allow  

 

PL1.3 Review, rationalise and develop downloadable promoted 

routes as required 

 

Review and prioritise 

promoted routes up to 

2 times/year (review 

based on seasonal 

promotion, route 

condition, 

maintenance) 

 

Create new 

downloadable 

promoted route cards 

where appropriate and 

manageable 

 

Review and prioritise 

promoted routes up to 

2 times/year (review 

based on seasonal 

promotion, route 

condition, 

maintenance) 

 

Review and prioritise 

promoted routes up to 

2 times/year (review 

based on seasonal 

promotion, route 

condition, 

maintenance) 

 

3.1, 3.2, 3.3 HB/SS 

PL1.4 Develop, maintain and promote 'Access for All' routes 1 project/route 

maintained, improved 

or created (subject to 

funding availability) 

 

Review and update 

'Access for All' 

information on website 

 

Develop 'Access for 

All' events in Festival 

1 project/route 

maintained, improved 

or created (subject to 

funding availability) 

1 project/route 

maintained, improved 

or created (subject to 

funding availability) 

3.1, 3.2, 3.3 SS/HB 

P
age 49



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Bowland  programme 

(e.g. buggy walks) 

PL1.5 Investigate opportunities to improve access as part of 

habitat restoration work (e.g flagged paths on blanket bog) 

Access and habitat 

improvement projects 

delivered (where 

appropriate and 

subject to funding 

availability) 

 

Access and habitat 

improvement projects 

delivered (where 

appropriate and 

subject to funding 

availability) 

 

Access and habitat 

improvement projects 

delivered (where 

appropriate and 

subject to funding 

availability) 

 

1.3, 3.1, 3.2 EL 

PL2 Provide high quality information, communications and events to enable people to enjoy and understand the landscape of the AONB 

and the work of the AONB partnership 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

PL2.1 Co-ordinate and review Festival Bowland (FB) 

 

Co-ordinate FB 

Steering Group 

 

Evaluation of customer 

feedback completed 

 

At least 10 FB events 

organised by AONB 

Unit 

 

Comprehensive review 

and evaluation of aims, 

Co-ordinate FB 

Steering Group 

 

Evaluation of customer 

feedback completed 

 

At least 10 FB events 

organised by AONB 

Unit 

 

Annual review and 

evaluation of aims and 

Co-ordinate FB 

Steering Group 

 

Evaluation of customer 

feedback completed  

 

At least 10 FB events 

organised by AONB 

Unit 

 

Annual review and 

evaluation of aims and 

3.4, 3.5 SS 

P
age 50



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

objectives and content 

of FB carried out (with 

view to refresh of 

format and events) 

 

content of FB 

completed and acted 

upon 

content of FB 

completed and acted 

upon 

PL2.2 Publicise Festival Bowland programme 

 

FB brochure produced, 

as part of the 

Discovery Guide 

 

Monthly FB events 

posters and 6 press 

releases/year produced  

 

Update Google 

calendar and LOIS 

database with FB 

events 

 

FB brochure produced, 

as part of the 

Discovery Guide 

 

Monthly FB events 

posters and 6 press 

releases/year produced  

 

Update Google 

calendar and LOIS 

database with FB 

events 

 

FB brochure produced, 

as part of the 

Discovery Guide 

 

Monthly FB events 

posters and 6 press 

releases/year produced  

 

Update Google 

calendar and LOIS 

database with FB 

events 

 

3.4, 3.6 SS 

PL2.3 Support and promote external events and tourism 

businessses that help to deliver AONB objectives 

 

Maintain LOIS database 

for partner-led events 

and accommodation 

listings on Marketing 

Lancashire's AONB 

destination guide 

 

Maintain LOIS database 

for partner-led events 

and accommodation 

listings on Marketing 

Lancashire's AONB 

destination guide 

 

Maintain LOIS database 

for partner-led events 

and accommodation 

listings on Marketing 

Lancashire's AONB 

destination guide 

 

3.4, 3.6 HB/SS 

PL2.4 Management and implementation of the Forest of 

Bowland AONB communications, branding and graphic 

Carry out review and 

update branding 

Maintain and update 

branding guidelines for 

Carry out review and 

update branding 

3.4, 3.5, 4.4 HB 

P
age 51



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

standards guidelines for 

partnership 

organisations and 

businesses 

 

Review and update 

AONB 

Communications 

Strategy, using PHLP 

Communications 

Strategy to inform this 

review 

 

partnership 

organisations and 

businesses, where 

required 

 

guidelines for 

partnership 

organisations and 

businesses 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

HB 

PL2.5 Refurbish or replace AONB boundary signs at key 

visitor 'gateways' to the AONB 

2 boundary signs 

refurbished or 

replaced (if funding 

allows) 

 

2 boundary signs 

refurbished or 

replaced (if funding 

allows) 

 

2 boundary signs 

refurbished or 

replaced (if funding 

allows) 

 

2.3, 3.5 SS 

PL2.6 Manage and maintain stocks of printed AONB 

publications (including 'Take One Media' brochure and leaflet 

distribution service) 

 

Review current printed 

publications and 

update/rationalise as 

appropriate 

 

Quarterly review of 

Take One Media 

reports to help manage 

stocks held by AONB 

Review current printed 

publications and 

update/rationalise as 

appropriate 

 

Quarterly review of 

Take One Media 

reports to help manage 

stocks held by AONB 

Review current printed 

publications and 

update/rationalise as 

appropriate 

 

Quarterly review of 

Take One Media 

reports to help manage 

stocks held by AONB 

3.4, 4.4 SS/HB 

 

 

 

 

SS 

P
age 52



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

Unit and TOM.  

 

 

Unit and TOM. Unit and TOM. 

PL2.7 Regularly review and update the content of AONB 

website, in line with AONB Management Plan objectives and 

actions 

 

Periodic review and 

update of web content 

completed 

 

Quarterly website data 

analysis completed and 

disseminated 

 

Periodic review and 

update of web content 

completed 

 

Quarterly website data 

analysis completed and 

disseminated 

 

Periodic review and 

update of web content 

completed 

 

Quarterly website data 

analysis completed and 

disseminated 

 

1.5A, 1.6D, 

1.7B, 3.4, 3.5, 

4.4 

HB 

 

 

 

HB 

 

 

PL2.8 Review design of AONB website 

 

Carry out 

review/refresh of 

AONB website design  

Update in line with 

current 

projects/activities 

 

Update in line with 

current 

projects/activities 

 

3.4, 3.5, 4.4 HB 

PL2.9 Research good practice in use of emerging technology to 

help interpret and promote the AONB 

 

Continue to develop 

use of social media to 

promote AONB (e.g. 

Twitter, Facebook) 

 

Research new 

technologies for use in 

communications and 

interpretation to 

develop a wider 

audience for AONB 

Continue to develop 

use of social media to 

promote AONB (e.g. 

Twitter, Facebook) 

 

Pilot use of new 

technologies in 

communications and 

interpretation as part 

of the Pendle Hill LP 

 

Continue to develop 

use of social media to 

promote AONB (e.g. 

Twitter, Facebook) 

 

 

3.4, 4.4 HB/SS 

 

 

 

 

HB/JA 

P
age 53



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

projects and activity 

(e.g. PHLP) 

 

PL2.10 Source and promote newsworthy stories that promote 

the AONB and work of the partnership 

 

Quarterly e-bulletin 

produced and 

promoted 

 

Contacts maintained 

within local, regional 

and national media 

 

At least 10 AONB 

press releases per year 

produced 

 

Quarterly e-bulletin 

produced and 

promoted 

 

Contacts maintained 

within local, regional 

and national media 

 

At least 10 AONB 

press releases per year 

produced 

Quarterly e-bulletin 

produced and 

promoted 

 

Contacts maintained 

within local, regional 

and national media 

 

At least 10 AONB 

press releases per year 

produced 

3.4, 4.4 HB 

 

 

 

SS 

 

 

 

SS 

PL3 Support local communities and visitors to conserve, restore, enjoy and learn about the heritage of the AONB; and develop 

programmes of activity which provide opportunities to engage people with the landscape 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

PL3.1 Support the development of the 'Friends of Bowland', to 

co-ordinate and support volunteers for the AONB 

 

Where appropriate, 

provide updates on 

AONB activity and 

attend 'Friends' 

committee meetings to 

act as liaison with 

Where appropriate, 

provide updates on 

AONB activity and 

attend 'Friends' 

committee meetings to 

act as liaison with 

Where appropriate, 

provide updates on 

AONB activity and 

attend 'Friends' 

committee meetings to 

act as liaison with 

2.3 SS/EL 

 

 

 

 

P
age 54



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

AONB 

Unit/Partnership 

 

Assist 'Friends' in 

development of 

events/activities 

programmes 

 

Develop at least one 

joint project/event 

with 'Friends' 

 

Use the Pendle Hill LP 

Volunteers Toolkit to 

develop AONB 

strategies/policies 

relating to volunteers 

 

AONB 

Unit/Partnership 

 

Assist 'Friends' in 

development of 

events/activities 

programmes 

 

Develop at least one 

joint project/event 

with 'Friends' 

 

AONB 

Unit/Partnership 

 

Assist 'Friends' in 

development of 

events/activities 

programmes 

 

Develop at least one 

joint project/event 

with 'Friends' 

 

 

 

 

 

SS/JA 

 

 

 

JA 

 

 

 

JA/SS 

PL3.2 Develop the Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership scheme, 

working towards HLF LPS Stage 2 Award and Delivery Phase 

 

(Refer to Pendle Hill Landscape Partnership Project Plans 

for further details) 

Draft Partnership 

memorandum of 

understanding to be 

signed by Partnership 

Board Members 

 

Complete audience 

development plan and 

pilot new audience 

Commence with Year 

1 Delivery Phase for 

Pendle Hill LP (subject 

to Stage 2 pass) 

 

 

Recruit LP team and 

establish LP office base 

Commence with Year 

2 of Delivery Phase for 

Pendle Hill LP (subject 

to Stage 2 pass) 

 

 

 

 

1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 

1.5, 1.6, 2.1, 

2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 

3.1, 3.3, 3.5 

CH/JA/EL/

HB 

P
age 55



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

engagement through 

Gatherings' and People 

Enjoying Nature (PEN) 

Project 

 

Complete PHLP 

Landscape 

Conservation Action 

Plan 

 

At least Year 1 

Delivery Phase match-

funding secured 

 

Submit Pendle Hill LPS 

Stage 2 application 

 

 

 

 

PL3.3 Continue development of community outreach activities 

to encourage new audiences that traditionally do not know 

about or visit the AONB 

 

Deliver pilot 

community outreach 

activities as part of 

PHLP Development 

Phase  

 

Deliver community 

outreach activities as 

part of PHLP Delivery 

Phase  

 

Deliver community 

outreach activities as 

part of PHLP Delivery 

Phase 

3.6 JA/CH 

PL3.4 Produce on-line resources for use by schools and 

investigate feasibility to support group visits to AONB farms 

with educational access and other suitable sites 

Investigate other 

AONB online 

educational resources 

and analyse AONB 

Review online 

educational resources 

and improve/amend as 

appropriate 

Review online 

educational resources 

and improve/amend as 

appropriate 

3.4, 3.6, 4.4 SS/CT 

 

 

P
age 56



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 website data to 

develop ideas for 

driving traffic to web 

pages 

 

Review online 

educational resources 

and improve/amend as 

appropriate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

A dynamic and effective AONB partnership (AP) 

AP1 Work with others to maximise the successful delivery of the AONB Management Plan and effectively monitor progress 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

AP1.1 Participate in a range of fora and networks to represent 

AONB interests (e.g. Local Nature Partnerships, Local 

Enterprise Partnerships, RDPE/LEADER LAGs) 

 

On-going On-going On-going 4.1, 4.4  All 

AP1.2 Review the AONB Management Plan, in accordance 

with national guidance 

 

Develop Partnership 

Advocacy Plan  

(in conjuction with 

review of AONB 

Communications 

Strategy) 

 

Continue to liaise with 

local authorities, utility 

company and other 

government agencies 

to raise awareness of 

AONB Management 

Plan and its delivery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue to liaise with 

local authorities, utility 

company and other 

government agencies 

to raise awareness of 

AONB Management 

Plan and its delivery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continue to liaise with 

local authorities, utility 

company and other 

government agencies 

to raise awareness of 

AONB Management 

Plan and its delivery 

 

4.1, 4.4C EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 58



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 

Produce scoping 

report on the review 

of the AONB 

Management Plan in 

2018/19 

 

 

EL 

AP1.3 Ensure effective and inclusive consultation is carried out 

on all major AONB strategies and activity 

 

On-going On-going On-going 2.3, 4.4 EL 

AP1.4 Manage and promote the interactive management plan 

(IMP) to ensure regular monitoring of partnership delivery of 

actions 

IMP regularly updated 

by Unit and partners 

IMP regularly updated 

by Unit and partners 

IMP regularly updated 

by Unit and partners 

 

4.1, 4.4 HB/EL 

AP1.5 Produce a clear and concise AONB Annual Report Annual Report 

produced by end of 

Quarter 2 each year 

 

Annual Report 

produced by end of 

Quarter 2 each year 

 

Annual Report 

produced by end of 

Quarter 2 each year 

 

2.2, 3.4, 4.4 SS 

 

AP1.6 Produce quarterly progress reports on business plan 

delivery 

 

Quarterly reports 

produced 

Quarterly reports 

produced 

 

Quarterly reports 

produced 

 

4.4 EL 

AP1.7 Develop a 'State of the AONB' Report to monitor and 

evaluate landscape change within the AONB, monitor delivery 

of the AONB Partnership outcomes and provide a sound 

evidence base for future project development and funding bids 

 Produce 'State of the 

AONB Report' update 

 4.3 EL 

AP1.8 Work with, and support National Association for 

AONBs (NAAONB) and other Protected Landscapes to share 

best practice and strengthen the status of AONBs locally and 

NAAONB and 

Northern Group 

events attended 

NAAONB and 

Northern Group 

events attended 

NAAONB and 

Northern Group 

events attended 

4.4 All 

P
age 59



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

nationally 

 

 

Responses made to 

NAAONB information 

and consultation 

requests, where 

appropriate 

 

 

Responses made to 

NAAONB information 

and consultation 

requests, where 

appropriate  

 

Responses made to 

NAAONB information 

and consultation 

requests, where 

appropriate  

AP1.9 Support and maintain co-ordinated delivery of services 

and projects in the AONB in partnership with local authority 

countryside and environmental projects teams 

 

LCC E&C Projects and 

Countryside staff 

attend/invited to 

AONB team meetings, 

where appropriate 

 

Periodic meetings held 

with local authority 

and United Utilities 

countryside staff 

 

LCC E&C Projects and 

Countryside staff 

attend/invited to 

AONB team meetings, 

where appropriate 

 

Periodic meetings held 

with local authority 

and United Utilities 

countryside staff 

 

LCC E&C Projects and 

Countryside staff 

attend/invited to 

AONB team meetings, 

where appropriate 

 

Periodic meetings held 

with local authority 

and United Utilities 

countryside staff 

 

4.1, 4.4 EL/TB 

 

 

 

 

 

EL 

AP2 Achieve excellence in the governance and management of the AONB Partnership and Unit, its people and resources; and helping to 

identify sustainable future funding to support these. 

We will: 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 AONB MP 

2014 – 2019 

Objectives 

Unit lead 

and support 

AP2.1Ensure effective and productive functioning of AONB 

Joint Advisory Committee and its working groups, with agreed 

terms of reference 

2 JAC meetings, 3 to 4 

partnership funders 

group and regular 

2 JAC meetings, 3 to 4 

partnership funders 

group and regular 

2 JAC meetings, 3 to 4 

partnership funders 

group and regular 

4.1 EL 

P
age 60



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

 working group 

meetings held 

 

working group 

meetings held 

working group 

meetings held 

AP2.2 Review membership of the AONB Joint Advisory 

Committee for non-statutory organisations and non-funding 

partners 

Review of current JAC 

membership for non-

statutory organisations 

and non-funding 

partners completed 

 

  4.1 EL 

AP2.2 Hold regular meetings and correspondence with AONB 

funding partners to ensure AONB Partnership and Unit are 

delivering against partners' key corporate objectives 

 

Regular Partnership 

Funders Group 

meetings held 

 

Arrange regular 

meetings/briefings for 

local authority officers 

and members on 

AONB Partnership 

activity 

 

Hold AONB 

conference/seminar 

Regular Partnership 

Funders Group 

meetings held 

 

Arrange regular 

meetings/briefings for 

local authority officers 

and members on 

AONB Partnership 

activity 

Regular Partnership 

Funders Group 

meetings held 

 

Arrange regular 

meetings/briefings for 

local authority officers 

and members on 

AONB Partnership 

activity 

 

Hold AONB 

conference/seminar 

 

4.1 EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LRS 

AP2.3 Continue to support and liaise with NAAONB (as part 

of the tri-partite agreement with Defra and Natural England) 

to lobby for retention of secure, long-term funding 

NAAONB meetings, 

seminars and 

conferences attended, 

NAAONB meetings, 

seminars and 

conferences attended, 

NAAONB meetings, 

seminars and 

conferences attended, 

4.4 EL 

P
age 61



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

arrangements for AONBs where appropriate 

 

where appropriate 

 

where appropriate 

 

AP2.4 Review fund-raising strategy for the AONB partnership Review strategy and 

continue 

implementation, in 

response to changing 

funding environment 

 

Develop a grant 

funding database and 

protocol for updating 

by AONB Unit 

 

  4.2 LRS/CH 

AP2.6 Aim for excellence in management of the AONB Unit 

 

Productive fortnightly 

team meetings, 1-to-1 

meetings, employee 

PDRs and team 

building activities 

carried out 

 

Develop a staff 

induction pack for new 

team members/officer 

volunteers  

 

Productive fortnightly 

team meetings, 1-to-1 

meetings, employee 

PDRs and team 

building activities 

carried out 

 

Productive fortnightly 

team meetings, 1-to-1 

meetings, employee 

PDRs and team 

building activities 

carried out 

 

4.1 EL/TB 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LRS 

AP2.7 Provide structured training opportunities to AONB Unit Staff training identified Staff training identified Staff training identified 4.1 EL 

P
age 62



AONB Unit Business Plan 2017 - 2020 

 

and representatives 

 

and attended and attended 

 

and attended 

 

AP2.8 Annually review and update three-year AONB Unit 

business plan 

 

Annual review and 

update completed 

Annual review and 

update completed 

 

Annual review and 

update completed 

 

4.1 EL 

AP2.9 Develop and update AONB Unit policies as required, 

e.g. Environmental, Volunteering, Procurement 

 

Review AONB Unit 

Environmental and 

Volunteering policies, 

with new actions and 

targets set as 

appropriate 

 

 

  4.1 EL 

 

 

 

P
age 63



P
age 64


	Agenda
	 Schedule
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 3 November 2016
	5 AONB Budget Update
	Appendix A

	7 Delivering the AONB Management Plan
	Appendix B - AONB Unit Activity Report and Business Plan
	Appendix C - Forest of Bowland AONB Business Plan 2017 - 2020 draft_final




